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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Dear Shareholder,

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report for 2017 that details the outcomes and successes of 
the past twelve months.

The Board is pleased to advise that following a major restructuring the new team has melded well and has 

enthusiasm of the new team that has enabled the transition to be smooth and problem free.

awareness amongst companies that are seeking a listing. The Exchange is looking to build on these improvements 
over the next twelve months.

These changes are being managed by our CEO Ann Bowering, who is instrumental in creating the new culture and is 
the public face of the Exchange. 

The Board would like to thank shareholders for their support over the past twelve months and invite you to the 
Annual General Meeting.

Yours sincerely,

Michael Cox

Chairman

29 September 2017
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LETTER FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

Dear Shareholders,

As the operator of the second largest listings exchange in a deep, active and sophisticated equity capital market, 
NSX Limited (NSX) is extremely well positioned to build a challenging exchange group, and in doing so secure the 
creation of long term shareholder value. 

Our strategy is to bring fair and vibrant competition to the equity listings market in Australia through: 
• expanding the pool of quality investable assets available to Australian investors;

• providing more agile and innovative new market solutions; 
• preserving the integrity of our listing venue and the rigour of our compliance frameworks; and
• contributing to the development of industry change in harmony with market stakeholders,

leading to a lower cost of capital, and cost to participate in, Australian capital markets.

people and culture, and strategy of the National Stock Exchange of Australia (NSXA). These changes go to the core 

our achievements and pleased to report that we have met, and at times exceeded our milestones for organisational 
transformation over the past year. 

We remain committed to a process of continuous improvement and have imbedded a culture of professionalism 
and excellence, which will see the standards and expectations being set and applied across the exchange transform 
NSXA’s competitive positioning in the industry.

The New NSX

view of what the opportunity was for the exchange, but equally importantly, what needed to change to position the 

they have been. 

Market access 
Historically, one of the biggest hurdles to the expansion of the market has been a lack of liquidity, driven 

Trading infrastructure 

Centre (ALC). This decision has resulted in enhanced connectivity with market participants, providing for improved 
market access, enhanced security monitoring, technology support, and promotes further engagement and 
integration of NSXA into the capital markets.
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LETTER FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR (Cont’d)

the key stakeholders of our business, and enables the exchange to engage with the market in a direct and relevant 
way. This decision meant that a number of long serving and valued employees of NSX were unable to go forward 

over many years. 

Management team

appointments to the Admissions, Market Surveillance, Market Operations, Business Development and Technology 
divisions. Our new team of industry professionals bring with them a breadth and depth of experience which 
complements the broader restructure of our operations and the New NSX strategy.

in revenues for the period, equally meaningful indicators of the success and value of this strategy can be seen by 
the inroads we have made to improving the standing with which the NSX is now held in the industry. This is an 

 
the exchange.

Financial and operational performance

2017. 

trading volumes and the number of trades executed on the market, although in real terms these numbers are still 
well below targeted future volumes.

exchange, as well as an increase in the schedule fee.  

However these changes were essential to meet our regulatory obligations and position the exchange to compete 
globally in the future.

consecutive year.



 

Our opportunity

which will allow us to capitalise on the opportunities that lie ahead in our industry.

NSX is now positioned to aggressively compete for listings in the Australian market, and be at the forefront of the 
delivery of new solutions in what is unquestionably a transformational time for our industry. The value derived 
from the investment we have made this year in our market access solutions, our people and processes, and our 
positioning in the market, will continue to materialise well into the future. 

look forward to the celebrating the growth in our market and our success with you over the coming years.

Yours sincerely,

Ann Bowering

Managing Director and CEO

 
29 September 2017
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MARKET INFORMATION

NSXA TRADING STATISTICS

Calendar Year 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Listed Securities (no.) 123 110 95 76 81

981 1,159 1,580 2,196 4,778

Volume Traded (‘000 shares) 292,769 112,583 24,377 26,675 13,705

70,781 20,354 10,361 20,348 15,913

Trades (no.) 1,384 1,145 972 1,120 1,102

Average Volume per trade (‘000 shares) 211.5 98.3 25.1 23.8 12.4

51.1 17.8 10.7 18.2 14.4

0.24 0.18 0.43 0.76 1.16

Announcements (no.) 4,463 2,386 2,011 2,012 1,539

NSXA Listing History of Securities

Calendar Year 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Fully Paid Ordinary 64 65 69 64 75

Partly Paid Ordinary 1 1 1 - -

Debt Securities 46 38 18 6 2

Preference Securities 5 3 3 3 1

Company issued options 5 2 3 2 2

Property Trusts 2 1 1 1 1

Total Listed Securities 123 110 95 76 81

Delisted securities 14 14 29 27 10

Market Capitalisation ($M)
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NSX issuers by industry

The teal bar for 2017 represents actual capital raised during the calendar year 2017 both as primary 

Primary and secondary capital raised ($m)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

250

300

200

0

150

100

50

23%

4%

13%

9%12%

7%

7%

4%
3%

13%
4%

Regional banks

Multi-sector holdings

Property

Finance

Mining

Life Sciences

Consumer

Media

Health

Agircultural prodcuts

239

157

115

182

219



About Participants
NSXA permits licensed organisations to apply to become Participants. Once a member of a licenced 
market these organisations can call themselves stockbrokers according to the Corporations Act. 

advice, settlement and corporate advisory services. Participant services for each new listing includes 

requirements. Membership of a licenced stock exchange imposes a higher standard of compliance  
on Participants.

About Nominated Advisers on NSXA
NSX permits organisations to apply to become Nominated Advisers to NSXA. By becoming a 
Nominated Adviser these organisations facilitate the listing process onto NSXA by ensuring and 

1. 
(a) the directors of the issuer have received advice and guidance (from the
 nominated adviser or other appropriate professional adviser) as to the nature of
 their responsibilities and obligations to ensure compliance with NSXA rules;
(b) to the best of the knowledge and belief of the nominated adviser, all relevant 
 requirements of NSXA rules have been complied with; and

that it will be available at all times to advise and guide the directors of the issuer as to their responsibilities 
and obligations to ensure compliance by the issuer on an ongoing basis with NSXA’s rules. 

Technology
The trading system for equities markets is supplied by NASDAQ. The system has the ability to expand to 

Plus trading facilities on its platform.

NSXA is Recognised Market Operators in the ASX Settlement CHESS system for the settlement of equity 
trades. Equity trades are settled via the batch Delivery versus Payment mechanism. NSXA also allows the 



NSX Group Structure
The NSX Limited group structure below depicts the entities that are responsible for the operation of the 
Stock Exchange and their respective compensation funds arrangements.

NSX  
LIMITED

NSX Services  
Pty Ltd

Holding  
Limited

NSX Clearing  
Nominees Pty Ltd

NSXA Compensation 
Arrangements

BSX Services  
Pty Ltd*

National Stock 
Exchange 

of Australia 
Limited

BSX Systems  
Pty Ltd*

WGMPL  
Pty Ltd*

Compensation 
Arrangements

Exchange Ltd

TWEPL 
Compensation 
Arrangements*

TWEPL Pty Ltd*

*This entity is non operating



Market Structures
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FINANCIAL MARKETS SUPERVISION

an annual review as required by section 794C of the Corporations Act 2001. Under the Australian Market 

to meet its obligations. 

the operations of its Participants. For listed issuers, this means adherence to the continuous disclosure 
regime and also periodic disclosure as required by the Listing Rules so as to maintain an informed market. 
For Participants, this means adherence to the Business Rules; adherence to high standards in trading and 
settlement of transactions; monthly submission of Surplus Liquid Funds reports; and annual reviews  

 

The following outlines some of the committees and structures operating within the NSX Limited Group 
that supervise the markets.

Listing & Admissions Committee 
The Listing & Admissions Committee (LAC) operates under a charter from the Board of the National Stock 
Exchange of Australia Limited.

brokers and Nominated Advisers. Only if the information provided by companies is acceptable as being 
 

Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee operates under a charter from the Board of the National Stock Exchange  
of Australia Limited.

• Recommend waivers from Listing Rules;
• Review and Monitor Participant obligations in accordance with the NSXA Business Rules; 
• Make recommendations to the Board concerning Participant obligations, breaches of the 

Business Rules and disciplinary action, including suspension and removal of Participant 
recognition; and

• Adjudicate on appeals.

matters as required.

Exchange Examining Accountant

National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited to provide reviews of Participant Surplus Liquid Funds.

Participants are required to submit monthly Surplus Liquid Funds reports to the EEA showing, amongst 
other things, how they are meeting their capital adequacy requirements. Participants failing to meet 
business rule requirements are referred to the Compliance Committee.



Compensation Arrangements

participants and monitoring market activity for any irregularities. The NSXA Compensation arrangements 
provide a mechanism whereby retail clients of Participants may claim recompense for losses under 

Corporations Act 2001.

From 11th March 2004 the Fidelity Fund operates under Part 7.5 of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 

Australian Markets Licence.

Complaint Handling
The NSXA takes pride in providing the highest degree of market integrity. With this in mind, NSXA 

• Disclosure practices of NSXA listed companies; 
• Poor execution of an order by a Participant of NSXA; 
• Possible violations of operating rules by any Participant of NSXA; 
• Listing or Business rules of NSXA; 
• Possible insider trading or market manipulation; 
• Compensation arrangements; and
• Complaints about NSXA Products and Services.

complaint. All complaints must be made in writing outlining the full details of the complaint and cannot 
be anonymous.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The NSX Limited Board has put in place measures to strengthen its Corporate Governance regime 

with the overall aim of meeting the ASX Corporate Governance Council Guidelines and best practice 

recommendations on a continual basis.

Board Charter

the Board is also governed by the Constitution of NSX. 

• Board Responsibilities;
• Term of membership of the Board;
• The role of the Chairman;
• 
• 
• The role of the Company Secretary;
• Scope of activities of the Board; and
• Reporting by the Board.

Code of Ethics and Conduct
The NSX is committed to conducting its business in a way that is open and accountable to shareholders 
and the wider marketplace. NSX believes that its corporate governance practices as a public company are 
of a high standard. The Code of Ethics and Conduct applies to both directors and employees of NSX.

(a) high standards of corporate and individual behaviour are observed by all NSX directors and  
 employees in the context of their employment and activities with NSX;
(b) directors and employees are aware of their responsibilities to NSX under their contract of  
 employment; and
(b) all persons dealing with NSX whether it be directors, employees, shareholders, suppliers,  
 customers or competitors can be guided by the stated values and policies of NSX.

• NSX’s responsibilities to shareholders;
• Care and Diligence;
• 
• 
• Fair Dealing;
• Use of Company Assets;
• Dealing Rules;
• Privacy; and Monitoring and reporting of the Code.

 



Principle Compliance/Response References

Principle 1

Recommendation 1.1

Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

(a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its board and management; and
(b) those matters expressly reserved to the board and those delegated to 
management.

NSX Response The NSX Board Charter makes it clear that the roles of 

and distinct. The charter is available from the NSX 
website. The charter provides information on roles 
of responsibilities of the Board, the Chair person and 
management.

NSX Board Charter

NSX Corporate Governance 
Statement

Recommendation 1.2

(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or putting forward to 
security holders a candidate for election, as a director; and
(b) provide security holders with all material information in its possession relevant to a 
decision on whether or not to elect or re-elect a director.

Corporate Goverance

Governance and Best Practice Recommendations. This publication is the basis for the NSX’s own 
 

approach and has responded to the guidelines appropriately with respect to the size of its business.
The statement document is structured along the same lines as the Council’s guidelines, 
with sections dealing in turn with each of the Council’s eight corporate governance principles 

1.      Lay solid foundations for management and oversight; 
2.      Structure the board to add value; 
3.      Act ethically and responsibly; 
4.      Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting; 
5.      Make timely and balanced disclosure; 
6.      Respect the rights of security holders; 
7.      Recognise and manage risk; and
8.      Remunerate fairly and responsibly. 

Summaries of the relevant codes, policies and charters are available from the NSX website.

Corporate Governance Statement
ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3 requires companies to include a statement in their annual report that outlines the 

referred to as the Guidelines).

For convenience, the measures adopted to ensure compliance with the Guidelines are presented in a 

been possible NSX has highlighted the steps taken to ensure compliance with the intent or ‘spirit’ of the 

As per ASX Listing Rule 4.7.3 NSX lodges Appendix 4G: Key Disclosures – Corporate Governance Council 

The following table summarises NSX compliance with ASX Corporate Governance Council’s guidelines. 
Shaded sections are Guidance Principles, while unshaded sections are NSX’s responses. NSX’s Corporate 
Governance statement is also available on it’s website ( ).



Principle Compliance/Response References

NSX Response On appointment new Board members are provided 
a questionnaire where they are required to disclose 
information about their bankrupt status and good fame 
and character. Also Australian police checks are also 
carried out.

Security holders are provided information on existing 
and newly appoint Directors when Directors are due for 
election. This information is provided in the Notice of 
meeting documents. 

NSX Board Charter

NSX Corporate Governance 
Statement

NSX Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Charter

NSX Annual report Notice of 
Meeting documents

Recommendation 1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director and senior 
executive setting out the terms of their appointment.

NSX Response All executive directors and senior management have 
applicable written agreements.

NSX Annual Report 
Remuneration Report

Recommendation 1.4 The company secretary of a listed entity should be accountable directly to  
the board, through the chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning  
of the board.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of  
the Board.

NSX Board Charter

Recommendation 1.5

(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the board or a relevant 
committee of the board to set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity 
and to assess annually both the objectives and the entity’s progress in achieving 
them;
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and
(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by the board or a relevant committee of the board in 
accordance with the entity’s diversity policy and its progress towards achieving them, 
and either: 
 (1) the respective proportions of men and women on the board, in senior  
 executive positions and across the whole organisation (including how the  

 
 

 published under that Act.

The NSX maintains a diversity policy which is published 
on the NSX website. 

The employment constituency is made  

• 
• 
• 

the workplace Gender Equality Act.

NSX Board Charter

NSX Diversity Policy

NSX Annual Report



Principle Compliance/Response References

The diversity policy publishes the relevant diversity 
targets as follows:

 

Recommendation 1.6

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance 
of the board, its committees and individual directors; and
(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation 
was undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that process.

The processes for evaluation of Board member is 
available in the NSX Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee Charter available from the NSX website.

The NSX Board under takes the review as is appropriate 
to the size and operations of its business and 
organisation at appropriate times during the year.

NSX Board Charter

NSX Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Charter

Recommendation 1.7

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of its 
senior executives; and
(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation 
was undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that process.

The processes for evaluation of Board member is 
available in the NSX Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee Charter available from the NSX website.
A performance evaluation was not under taken 
of senior executives.

NSX Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Charter

Target By When

(1) at Board level:
at least one of the next 2 Board appointments desirably 
should be female with appropriate skills and attributes

(1) when it is appropriate to 
expand or refresh 
the Board

(2) at Executive level:
at least one of the next 2 executive appointments 
desirably should be female with appropriate skills  
and attributes

(2) when it is appropriate 
to expand or refresh the 
executive team

(3) generally:
subject to the qualifying not under this item 2(c), not 

 
be female

year



Principle Compliance/Response References

Principle 2

Recommendation 2.1

Structure the board to add value

(a) have a nomination committee which: 
 (1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent   
 directors; and 
 (2) is chaired by an independent director, 
 and disclose:
 (3) the charter of the committee;
 (4) the members of the committee; and
 (5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the 
 committee met throughout the period and the individual attendances of the  
 members at those meetings; or
(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, disclose that fact and the processes 
it employs to address board succession issues and to ensure that the board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience, independence and diversity to 

NSX Response The NSX Board consists of 4 directors, including the 
Chairman - Michael Cox, Executive Director  
Ann Bowering and Non-Executive Directors Thomas 
Price and Tony Shen (Weiguo).

Applying the independence test outlined in the 
Principles, the NSX considers that the independent 
directors are Tom Price and Michael Cox.
 

and so has in place policies to mitigate for the 
emergence of a lack of independence at any point in 
time. The independence of the Board is supported  
by adherence by the Board to various 
policy documents. 

(a) new directors inform the Board of any perceived bias 

of interests to the notice of the Board prior to the 
commencement of each meeting,

from voting on that particular matter; and
(d) Non-executive Directors can hold independent 
meetings before scheduled full board meetings in the 
absence of management; and
(e) Has established external committees to oversee 
listing and compliance of listed entities that are 
regulated by NSX.

The Board is of the view that this is the best 
arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the 
current development cycle of the Company.

NSX Code of Ethics and 
Conduct 

NSX Corporate Governance 
Statement

Policy

Procedures for the 

of interest register

Procedures for appointment 
of new directors or senior  



Principle Compliance/Response References

Recommendation 2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix setting out the  
mix of skills and diversity that the board currently has or is looking to achieve  
in its membership.

NSX Response The Board is currently comprised of four members. 
The Board is not currently seeking to appoint new 
members. However the Board would appoint a new 
member on the basis that that potential member is able 

Board does not currently publish a skills matrix.

NSX Annual report

Recommendation 2.3

(a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be independent directors;
(b) if a director has an interest, position, association or relationship but the board is of 
the opinion that it does not compromise the independence of the director, the nature 
of the interest, position, association or relationship in question and an explanation of 
why the board is of that opinion; and
(c) the length of service of each director.

NSX Response The NSX Board consists of 4 directors, including 
the Chairman - Michael Cox, Executive Director Ann 
Bowering and Non-Executive Directors Thomas Price 
and Tony Shen (Weiguo).

Applying the independence test outlined in the 
Principles, the NSX considers that the independent 
directors are Tom Price and Michael Cox.

and so has in place policies to mitigate for the 
emergence of a lack of independence at any point in 
time. The independence of the Board is supported by 
adherence by the Board to various policy documents.
 
The Board is of the view that this is the best 
arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the 
current development cycle of the Company.

NSX Annual Report

parties

NSX Website

Recommendation 2.4 A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent directors.

NSX Response Applying the independence test outlined in the 
Principles, the NSX considers that the independent 
directors are Tom Price and Michael Cox. 

NSX Annual Report



Principle Compliance/Response References

and so has in place policies to mitigate for the 
emergence of a lack of independence at any point in 
time. The independence of the Board is supported by 
adherence by the Board to various policy documents.
 
The Board is of the view that this is the best 
arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the 
current development cycle of the Company.

 
and review parties

NSX Website 

Recommendation 2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent director and, in 

NSX Response The Chairman is not the same person as the Managing 
Director.

Board Charter

NSX Annual Report

Recommendation 2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors and provide 
appropriate professional development opportunities for directors to develop 
and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to perform their role as directors 

NSX Response New directors are given a package of relevant 
information concerning the Company

Board Charter

Principle 3

Recommendation 3.1

A listed entity should act ethically and responsibly.

(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives and employees; and
(b) disclose that code or a summary of it.

NSX Response NSX has in place a number of procedures and policy 
documents to guide the directors and Chief Executive 

The NSX Code of Ethics and Conduct requires that 
all directors and employees uphold high standards 
honesty, fairness and equity in all aspects of their 
employment and or association with NSX. 

Additionally, the Procedures for dealing in securities 
sets out the rules relating to dealings by employees 

markets. The Procedures restate the Corporations Act 
prohibition on insider trading, improper use of inside 
information and the prohibition on making gains by 
improper use of position.

The Procedures also place prohibitions on employees 
and directors in dealing with NSX shares at certain 
times of the year.

Procedures for appointment 
of new directors or senior 

Procedures for dealing in 
securities by Directors, 

NSX

NSX Code of Ethics and 
Conduct

Policy

Procedures for dealing in 
securities by Directors, 

NSX



Principle Compliance/Response References

Each individual must abide by these policies and 
procedures in order to contribute to the high standard 
of integrity expected by the NSX.

that have been declared as review parties due to some 

 
and review Parties

NSX Website

Principle 4

Recommendation 4.1

Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting

(a) have an audit committee which:
 (1) has at least three members, all of whom are non-executive directors and a  
 majority of whom are independent directors; and
 (2) is chaired by an independent director, who is not the chair of the board, 
 and disclose:
  (3) the charter of the committee;

 
 committee; and
 (5) in relation to each reporting period, the number of times the committee  
 met throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at  
 those meetings; or
(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose that fact and the processes 
it employs that independently verify and safeguard the integrity of its corporate 
reporting, including the processes for the appointment and removal of the external 
auditor and the rotation of the audit engagement partner.

NSX Response NSX accepts the importance of safe guarding the 
 

The Board sees that this obligation requires conduct at 
two levels.
 
First, it requires the Board members to take steps to 
maintain the integrity of its reporting systems that is 
with respect to being properly resourced to produce 
relevant reports. Secondly, this requirement obligates 
NSX to adopt strategies to verify and safeguard the 
integrity of those 

The Board has established an Audit & Risk Committee 
but it is currently inactive. The Board oversees this 
function.

Secondly, the Board considers that the Board is of 

accounting and commercial expertise to ensure NSX 
carries out its reporting obligations.

Board Charter

Audit & Risk Committee 
Charter



Principle Compliance/Response References

experience and expertise;
2. NSX is not so large as to warrant resources beyond 
that of the existing board being utilised;
3. The NSX Board engages with its auditors on a regular 
basis;
4. As NSX continues to develop the sophistication of its 
markets and business structure the board will reassess 
its position in relation to its reporting safe guards.

The Board is of the view that this is the best 
arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the 
current development cycle of the Company.

Recommendation 4.2 

entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk 

NSX Response The Board and auditors are provided with a 
management representation letter attesting to the 
above requirements

Audit & Risk Committee 
Charter

Principle 5

Recommendation 5.1

Make timely and balanced disclosure

(a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure obligations 
under the Listing Rules; and
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.

NSX Response The Compliance Plan is designed to ensure that 
company announcements are made in timely manner, 
are factual, do not omit material information and are 
expressed in a clear and objective manner. The plan 
provides a ‘road map’ of NSX compliance with its 
disclosure obligations. 

Compliance Plan 

Principle 6

Recommendation 6.1

Respect the rights of security holders
A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance to investors 
via its website.

NSX Response The NSX Shareholder Communications Policy states 
that the NSX is committed to timely and accurate 
disclosure of information to shareholders.

NSX Shareholder 
Communications Policy



Principle Compliance/Response References

As outlined in the Policy NSX carries out its 
obligations to inform its shareholders by 

1. maintaining and regularly updating its web site;
2. making available electronic copies of annual reports 
to shareholders;
3. operating a free email newsletter service where 
shareholders and members of the public can subscribe 
by entering in their email address and also RSS feed 
syndications;
4. accepting nominations for the board of NSX that are 
made to the Company Secretary in accordance with the 
NSX constitution;
5. strictly applying the Procedures for the Dealing in 
Securities by Directors and Employees; and
6. NSX sends information to shareholders each year 
where those shareholders have provided an email 
address. NSX also publishes information on its website 
(www.nsx.com.au) in a dedicated shareholders area.

Recommendation 6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations program to facilitate 

This is disclosed in the Shareholder Communications 
Policy.

NSX Shareholder 
Communications Policy

Recommendation 6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate 
and encourage participation at meetings of security holders.

These are contained in the NSX Shareholder 
communications policy.

NSX Shareholder 
Communications Policy

Recommendation 6.4 A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive communications 
from, and send communications to, the entity and its security registry electronically.

This option is provided by the NSX share  
registry service

NSX Shareholder 
Communications Policy

Principle 7

Recommendation 7.1

Recognise and manage risk

(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each of which: 
 (1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent  
 directors; and 
 (2) is chaired by an independent director,  
 and disclose: 
 (3) the charter of the committee; 
 (4) the members of the committee; and 
 (5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee  
 met throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at  
 those meetings; or
(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose 
that fact and the processes it employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework.



Principle Compliance/Response References

NSX Response As stated in the NSX Corporate Governance Statement, 

the compliance framework and policies within NSX, 
while the Board assesses risk policies and framework 
associated with the NSX.

NSX Corporate Governance 
Statement

Board Charter

NSX Risk Framework

Recommendation 7.2

(a) review the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself 
that it continues to be sound; and
(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such a review has taken 
place.

NSX Response Management reports to the Board on its operations. 
This includes any analysis of risks facing the business.

NSX Corporate Governance 
Statement

Board Charter

Compliance Plan

NSX Risk Framework

Recommendation 7.3

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it 
performs; or
(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs 

internal control processes.

NSX Response The NSX does not have a dedicated internal audit 
function. However through a mixture of Board 
oversight, Compliance Committee and management 

management framework.

The Board is of the view that this is the best 
arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the 
current development cycle of the Company.

NSX Risk Framework

Recommendation 7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, 
environmental and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends 
to manage those risks.

NSX Response These disclosures are provided in the Annual Report 
and Risk Framework.

NSX Annual Report

NSX Risk Framework



Principle Compliance/Response References

Principle 8

Recommendation 8.1

Remunerate fairly and responsibly

(a) have a remuneration committee which:
 (1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent  
 directors; and
 (2) is chaired by an independent director, 
 and disclose:
 (3) the charter of the committee;
 (4) the members of the committee; and
 (5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the  
 committee met throughout the period and the individual attendances of the  
 members at those meetings; or
(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, disclose that fact and the processes 
it employs for setting the level and composition of remuneration for directors and 
senior executives and ensuring that such remuneration is appropriate and not 
excessive.

NSX Response The Board has established a Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. The committee consists of the 
current Board members.

The Board is of the view that this is the best 
arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the 
current development cycle of the Company.

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Charter

Recommendation 8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the 
remuneration of non-executive directors and the remuneration of executive directors 
and other senior executives.

NSX Response Disclosed in the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee Charter.

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Charter

Recommendation 8.3

(a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions 
(whether through the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in the scheme; and
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.

NSX Response There are no share based payment schemes. 
This section is not applicable.



Trading Policy

 
group. The Trading Rules are designed to assist in preventing breaches of the insider trading provisions  
of the Corporations Act. Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the employee or director to ensure that none  
of his or her dealings could constitute insider trading.

NSX employees and directors may have in their possession sensitive commercial or compliance information 

(where such products are related to products traded on NSX markets), including NSX Limited securities. 

and also to NSX irrespective of whether insider trading actually occurs or is proven. The Corporations Act 2001 

The procedures cover the following areas:

• Other relevant Corporations Act provisions;
• Dealing in Shares issued by NSX Limited and its controlled entities;
• Prohibition on Dealing in Financial Products issued over NSX Shares by Third Parties;

   and

These documents are published on the NSX shareholder website (www.nsx.com.au)

Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee structure is currently inactive as the NSX Board oversees these functions. 
The Board is of the view that this is the best arrangement to grow the business of the NSX in the current 
development cycle of the Company.

The primary function of the Committee is to assist the Board of Directors of the NSX  

• monitor management’s framework to identify and manage enterprise risk and internal control  
 for the NSX Group; 
• monitor compliance, in conjunction with the NSX Compliance Committee, with laws and regulations 
 and code of conduct for the NSX Group; and 
• monitor the performance and independence of the external auditor. 

 
 

risk management processes, internal controls and compliance systems. The Committee receives 



Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee structure is currently inactive as the NSX Board oversees 
this function. The Board is of the view that this is the best arrangement to grow the business of the NSX  
in the current development cycle of the Company.

• review director competence standards;
• review Board succession plans;
• evaluate the Board’s performance;
• make recommendations for the appointment and removal of directors to the Board; and
• make recommendations to the Board on, executive remuneration and incentive policies, the
  remuneration packages of senior management, recruitment, retention and termination policies 
  for senior management, incentive schemes, and remuneration for directors.

Conflicts of Interest - Declared Conflicts and Review Parties 
As part of the requirements of its corporate governance arrangements and as a part of the obligations for 
holding two Australian Market licences able to operate Stock Exchanges in Australia, NSX has a number of 

the course of their day to day activities.

two forms 

      as Review Parties. 

regulatory obligations of the NSX as a holder of Australian Market Licences.

Director  
or Officer

Relationship to NSX Nature of potential or actual Conflict

Tom Price Director of NSX None

Michael Cox Director of NSX None

Ann Bowering Director NSX Limited
Managing Director NSX

None

Tony Shen  

(Weiguo) 

Director
Substantial shareholder of
NSX Director of a listed NSXA 
Company

Director of SHKL Limited (NSX Code: SKV) listed on 
NSXA.

 
in NSX Limited

Brian Price

Table of Declared Conflicts

NSX makes this information available on its website 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Director Appointed

Ann Bowering Appointed 25 May 2009

Thomas Price Appointed 17 November 2009

Michael Cox Appointed 23 November 2009

Tony Shen (Weiguo) Appointed 29 September 2016

Company Secretary

companies and reviewing NSX listed entities compliance with the listing rules.  

Principal Activities 

Stock Exchange of Australia Limited. 

Operating Results 

An analysis of the factors contributing to this result is provided in the Review of Operations  
section (below).

Dividends Paid or Recommended 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend. No dividends have been paid or declared 

Directors 

unless otherwise stated. 
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Review of Operations

Revenue

corresponding period (pcp).

revenue is principally interest earned on cash and investments held during the period. 

the average market capitalization of the new listings was higher than those listing in 2016.

combined with an increase in average size of the issuers.

  

3500

3000

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

Annual Listing

Application Fees

Subsuquent raising

Other

30 June 

Revenue Category

Notes 2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

Change(%)

Exchange Revenue 2 3,062.1 1,836.0 67

2 167.0 97.1 72

Other Revenue 2 3.3 12.7 -74

Total Revenue 3,232.4 1,945.8 66

20172016

$’000

$1.9m

$3.2m
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Expenses

contractor payments and external advisers.

activities of the exchanges, including trading systems, data centres, security, market access and 

  

maintained by NSX at a point in time during the period. The current period includes an expense overlap 

moved to the new premises in November 2016). 
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30 June 

Expense Category

2017

$’000

2016

$’000

Change(%)

2,073 1,231.7 68.3

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 252.8 15.6 1,520.5

Consultancy expenses 190.0 203.1 -6.5

Compliance expenses 88.6 54.5 62.6

Legal expenses 41.0 18.9 117.4

Market trading expenses 1,211.1 883.3 37.1

Marketing and promotion expenses 80.1 15.5 416.8

Occupancy expenses 251.8 120.4 109.1

Administration and other expenses 859.9 471.9 82.2

Restructuring costs 367.0 415.0 -11.6

Total Expenses 5,415.3 3,429.9 58

Consolidated Summary

the exchange, an increase in the average market capitalisation of listed issuers, and an increase in fees 

of costs are non-recurring and relate to the restructure of the NSXA. Ongoing costs attributable to the 

Earnings per share (EPS) decreased from (1.1) cents per share to (1.5) cents per share or a decrease of 

diminished from 4.9 cents to 3.2 cents.

The following table provides summary of the group results.
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30 June 

Summary

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

Change(%)

Revenue 3,232 1,946 66

Expenses excluding restructuring costs 5,048 3,015 67

Operating loss (1,816) (1,069) 70

Expenses including restruction costs 5,415 3,430 58

Net loss after tax (2,183) (1,484) 47

Key Statistics 2017 2016 Change(%)

Earnings per share (cents) (1.5) (1.1) -42

Net tangible assest backing (cents) 3.19 4.91 -35

Share price at end of period (cents) 25.0 22.0 14

147.9 147.9 0

42.9 32.5 32

4,914 7,466 -34

2,200 2,200 0

2,714 5,266 -48
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Michael Cox Non-Executive Director, Chairman

Qualifications

FGAA

Appointed 23 November 2009

Directorships held in other listed entities: Nil

Interest in Shares and Options: 4,043 Fully paid ordinary shares
700,000 Partly paid shares paid to 1 cent

Experience Mr Cox had 10 years of experience in the securities industry 
prior to acting as corporate consultant and professional 
director. Mr Cox was formerly a director of other public 
companies including Benitec Ltd, Queensland Opals NL, 
Australian Environmental Resources NL and is a director of a 
number of private and public unlisted companies.

Mr Cox was CEO of the NSX at the time it listed on the ASX and 
merged with the Bendigo Stock Exchange. Mr Cox is a partner 
in Solidus Financial Services – public accountants.

Information on Directors

Thomas Price Non-Executive Director

Qualifications B.Arts (Macquarie)

Appointed 17 November 2009

Directorships held in other listed entities: Nil

Interest in Shares and Options: Nil

Experience Mr Price is an Executive Director of the Financial & Energy 
Exchange Limited (FEX), a Director of the Australian Market 
licensed interest rate and currency swap market operator, 
Mercari Pty Ltd, and a Strategy Advisor on the environmental 
product development joint venture between FEX, Macquarie 
Capital Group and Climate Exchange plc (Envex).

implementation of operational technology and regulatory 
infrastructure for business development including the 
proposed energy, commodity and environmental derivative 
markets. He works closely with NASDAQ on technology 
issues and is also responsible for overall market connectivity 
infrastructure for the FEX group.

Previously, Mr Price was an Australian based Derivative Asset 
Manager and Consultant with over 15 years experience in 
derivative transactions, derivatives trading and option pricing. 
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Ann Bowering Managing Director

Qualifications B.Comm Acc & Fin, CA

Appointed 25 May 2009

Directorships held in other listed entities: Nil

Interest in Shares and Options: Nil

Experience Ms Bowering has a unique combination of global capital 

and commercial expertise developed over a 20 year career 

Executive Director of Financial & Energy Exchange Limited, 
and as a Director of NSX Limited (ASX: NSX) and its subsidiary 

Securities Exchange. 

Ms Bowering commenced her career at KPMG in 1995, where 
over the course of twelve years she held a number of roles 
covering the specialisations of M&A and Capital Markets 
Advisory, Risk Management and Assurance. During that 
time she had the opportunity to work in the Melbourne, 

a specialisation in the energy and commodities sectors.  
Following her career at KPMG, Ms Bowering was appointed 
as Head of Business Development and Operations at Lucsan 
Technology, where her core responsibility and achievement 

Tony Shen (Weiguo) Non-Executive Director

Qualifications B.Economics & Management

Appointed 29 September 2016

Directorships held in other listed entities: SHKL Group Limited

Interest in Shares and Options: 16,500,000

Experience Mr Shen is an executive director and a controlling shareholder 
of SHKL Group Limited, a company listed on the National 
Stock Exchange of Australia, a market operated by the 
National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited, a subsidiary of 
NSX Limited. Mr Shen is an executive director of KSTV (Hong 
Kong) Limited and Shanghai Kunlun Cultural Media Co., 
Limited. Mr Shen is a director and substantial shareholder 

a number of private companies registered and operating 
exclusively in China.
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Meetings of Directors

during the year were as follows: 

Director Eligible to attend Number attended Eligible to attend Number attended

Michael Cox 12 12 1 1

Thomas Price 12 12 1 1

Ann Bowering 12 12 1 1

Tony Shen (Weiguo) 9 8 1 1

Directors’ Meetings Special Meetings

Special meetings encompass Annual General Meetings and any other General Meetings of shareholders.

Meetings of Audit & Risk Committee
Due to the size of the organisation the functions of the Audit Committee are performed by the entire 

Meetings of Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Due to the size of the organisation the functions of this committee are performed by the entire Board.  
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Directors’ and Chief Executive Officers’ Emoluments
Remuneration Report (Audited)

receiving the highest remuneration, and the remuneration policy during the year is disclosed in Note 20 of 
Corporations Act 2001 section 300A disclosures are tabled below.

obligation and NSX’s response to each of these requirements.

Director Remuneration
Approved by shareholders at the AGM of 20 December 2004, the remuneration pool for non-executive 

inclusive of superannuation. Executive director fees for service are by mutual agreement with the Board.  

Chairman of Directors – Michael Cox

superannuation.

Party transactions with Mr Cox are disclosed in Note 18.

Short Term Incentive Plan
No short term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Long Term Incentive Plan
No long term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Non-Executive Director – Thomas Price
There is no employment or service agreement agreed to by the Board for Mr Price. Mr Price’s director 

Party transactions with Mr Price are disclosed in Note 18.

Short Term Incentive Plan
No short term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Long Term Incentive Plan
No long term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Non-Executive Director – Tony Shen (Weiguo)
There is no employment or service agreement agreed to by the Board for Mr Shen. Mr Shen’s director 

Party transactions with Mr Price are disclosed in Note 18.

Short Term Incentive Plan
No short term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Long Term Incentive Plan
No long term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.
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Managing Director – Ann Bowering

superannuation per annum.  

Actual remuneration paid by NSX to Ms Bowering for services as a director and Managing Director for the 
 

Annual Base Salary

Expense reimbursement
The Managing Director is entitled to reasonable expense reimbursement.

Short Term Incentive Plan
No short term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Long Term Incentive Plan
No long term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Termination Provisions
The Employment Agreement may be terminated in the circumstances described below.
Resignation – Ms Bowering may tender her resignation.
Termination on Notice by NSX – The NSX may terminate upon prior notice. 

grossly negligent or otherwise incompetent, serious breach of the agreement, becomes bankrupt or 
commits a crime or other civil wrong doing).

Post- Employment Restraints

then Ms Bowering must give notice to NSX so that all reasonable steps can be taken by NSX to protect  
its business.

Other than the above Ms Bowering is subject to customary post-employment restraints.

Options / Share Scheme
Ms Bowering will be entitled to any option or share scheme arrangements that may be approved by 
shareholders. 

payments. 

Payments on termination

laws and ASX Listing Rules and shareholder approval, Ms Bowering will be eligible to receive up to 
1,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares in NSX Limited. Such shares to be issued within 28 days of becoming 
eligible.

The NSX will pay Ms Bowering a termination payment equal to the amount of base salary which Ms 
Bowering would have received from the date of termination until the End Date of the agreement.

Permitted Activities
Ms Bowering will be allowed to retain, at her sole discretion, the position of Non-executive director of 
Financial and Energy Exchange Ltd and may hold the position of Chairperson of the Audit Committee 
of Financial and Energy Exchange Ltd and associated companies provided that such positions do not 

for holding such positions and must disclose such compensation to NSX on an annual basis.
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Section 300A Corporations Act 2001 Disclosures on Remuneration
Compliance with section 300A Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) – Annual Directors Report

Section Obligation Discussion

300A(1)(a)(i) A discussion of Board policy for determining, 
or in relation to, the nature and amount (or 
value, as appropriate) of remuneration of 
directors, secretaries and senior managers of 
the company;

The annual report outlines Board policy 
with respect to the nature and amount of 
director, secretaries and senior manager 
remuneration.

Under the Board Charter, the NSX Board 
retains ultimate responsibility for the 
remuneration of directors, executives, senior 

policy of the Board that remuneration be 
intended to create and enhance shareholder 
wealth. This involves ensuring that individual 
remuneration is set by reference to a calculus 
of factors including: market remuneration 
levels, the nature of the role and duties 
performed, the skill set of the individual and 

corporate group. Currently, the policy is that 
remuneration is reviewed by the Board on a 
periodic basis to ensure continued support 
of the commercial and regulatory interests of 
the exchange and its shareholders.  

300A(1)(a)(ii)

required – Board policy in relation to the 
nature and amount (or value, as appropriate) 
of remuneration of other group executives 
for the consolidated entity;

The Board policy with respect to NSX entity 
directors, secretaries and senior managers 
also applies to subsidiary entities. 

300A(1)(b) A discussion of the relationship 
between such policy and the company’s 
performance; 

This policy ensures that Directors and 
management are paid without prejudice 
to the interests of a particular business of 
the company. This is because Directors and 
senior management are expected to be able 
to contribute to each cash generating unit 
in a positive manner thereby enhancing the 
performance of each of the cash generating 
units.

300A(1)(ba) if an element of the remuneration of a 
member of the key management personnel 

statements are required, for the consolidated 
entity is dependent on the satisfaction of a 
performance condition: 
(i) a detailed summary of the performance 
condition; and 
(ii) an explanation of why the performance 
condition was chosen; and 
(iii) a summary of the methods used 
in assessing whether the performance 

 
of why those methods were chosen; and 
(iv) if the performance condition involves  
a comparison with factors external to  
the company:  

Not Applicable
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Section Obligation Discussion

300A(1)(ba) 

continued

(A) a summary of the factors to be used in 
making the comparison; and 
(B) if any of the factors relates to the 
performance of another company, of 2 or  
more other companies or of an index in 
which the securities of a company or  
companies are included--the identity of that 
company, of each of those companies or of 
the index; and

Not Applicable

300A(1)(c) The prescribed details in relation to the 
remuneration of:
(i) each director of the company; and
(ii) each of the 5 names company executives 
who received the highest remuneration for 
that year; and

required – each of the 5 named relevant 
group executives who received the highest 
remuneration for that year;

The annual report contains details of the 
remuneration of each director and each of 
the top 5 highest grossing key management 
executives and directors for this reporting 
period. Refer Note 20 for more detailed 
information.

300A(1)(d)

persons referred to in paragraph (c) consists 
of securities of a body and that element 
is not dependent on the satisfaction of a 
performance condition – an explanation 
of why that element of the remuneration 
is not dependent on the satisfaction of a 
performance condition;

Securities were not a component for 
remunerating directors during this reporting 
period. The NSX does not currently operate 
an executive share scheme.  

300A(1)(e) For each person referred to in paragraph (c). refer to Note 20.

300A(1)(f) such other matters related to the policy or 
policies referred to in paragraph (a) as are 
prescribed by the regulations; and

Not Applicable

300A(1)(g) if: 
(i) at the company’s most recent AGM, 
comments were made on the remuneration 
report that was considered at that AGM; and 
(ii) when a resolution that the remuneration 

was put to the vote at the company’s most 

were against adoption of that report; 
(iii) an explanation of the board’s proposed 
action in response or, if the board does not 
propose any action, the board’s reasons for 
inaction; and 

There were no comments made, at the last 
AGM, concerning the remuneration report.

against the remuneration report.  

The Board has engaged with its major 
shareholder concerning the remuneration 
report and believes it currently has in place 
a suitable remuneration policy. The Board 
reviews its policy whenever necessary.
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Section Obligation Discussion

300A(1)(h) if a remuneration consultant made a 
remuneration recommendation in relation 
to any of the key management personnel 

statements are required, for the consolidated 

(i) the name of the consultant; and 
(ii) a statement that the consultant made 
such a recommendation; and 
(iii) if the consultant provided any other 
kind of advice to the company or entity 

consultant provided that other kind or those 
other kinds of advice; and 
(iv) the amount and nature of the 
consideration payable for the remuneration 
recommendation; and 
(v) the amount and nature of the 
consideration payable for any other kind of 
advice referred to in subparagraph (iii); and 
(vi) information about the arrangements the 
company made to ensure that the making of 
the remuneration recommendation would be 

members of the key management personnel 
to whom the recommendation relates; and 
(vii) a statement about whether the 

recommendation was made free from undue 

key management personnel to whom the 
recommendation relates; and 

remuneration recommendation was made 

members of the key management personnel 
to whom the recommendation relates--the 

Not Applicable

300A(1AA) Without limiting paragraph (1)(b), the 
discussion under that paragraph of the 

deal with:
(a) the company’s earnings; and
(b) the consequences of the company’s 
performance on shareholder wealth; in the 

The Directors’ Report and accompanying 

details of these issues.
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Section Obligation Discussion

300A(1AB)

subsection (1AA), the consequences of the 
company’s performance on shareholder 

(a) dividends paid by the company to its 
shareholders during that year; and
(b) changes in the price at which shares in the 
company are traded between the beginning 
and the end of that year; and
(c) any return of capital by the company to its 
shareholders during that year that involves:
 (i) the cancellation of shares in the  
 company; and
 (ii) a payment to the holders of  
 those shares that exceeds the price  
 at which shares in that class are  
 being traded at the time when the  
 shares are cancelled; and
(d) any other relevant matter.

(a) No dividends have been paid by the 
company to date.
(b) The company has been a listed entity 

As at 12 September 2017 the share price was 

made nor are there any employee incentive 
schemes based on share price movements 
as there is no employee share incentive 
scheme in operation. 

300A(1A) The material referred to in subsection (1) 
must be included in the directors’ report 

A remuneration report segment is included 
in the Directors Report. Refer to discussion 
above and also to Note 20.

Financial Position

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
 

Post balance date events
During the year the directors of TWPL Pty Limited decided that it was no longer needed and an 

was deregistered.  

Other than mentioned above there are no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the 

Future Developments
Likely developments in the operations of the Economic Entity and the expected results of those 

information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Economic Entity. 

Environmental Issues and Carbon Tax

issues arising from the operations of the economic entity during the year.  
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Non-audit services

with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The 

independence for the following reasons:
• All non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the board of directors prior to commencement 

• The nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor

   APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

Auditors Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out at page 54.

Indemnifying Officers or Auditors

2017

($)

2016

($)
Tax Advice- FBT - 1,300

7,500 7,500

Other Services 3,500 3,500

Total 11,000 12,300

Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under 
Option

15-Oct-2007 15-Oct-2017 0.50 323,412

Options
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of NSX Limited under option are as follows:

options and no options lapsed.
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Proceedings on Behalf of Company
No person has applied for leave of Court in accordance with section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 to 
bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a 
party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those pro-
ceedings.

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Michael Cox

Director

Ann Bowering

Director

Dated 29 September 2017 

Sydney

    
 
 



 54

NSX LIMITED 
ABN 33 089 447 058 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF NSX LIMITED 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2017, there 
have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

PKF      CLAYTON HICKEY 
Chartered Accountants    Partner 

Sydney 

Dated: 29 September 2017 

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not 
accept any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms.

For office locations visit www.pkf.com.au

Sydney

Level 8, 1 O’Connell Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia   
GPO Box 5446 Sydney NSW 2001 

p +61 2 8346 6000   
f +61 2 8346 6099

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited 
Partnership

ABN 91 850 861 839

Liability limited by a scheme 

approved under Professional 

Standards Legislation

Newcastle

755 Hunter Street   
Newcastle West NSW 2302 Australia   
PO Box 2368 Dangar NSW 2309

p +61 2 4962 2688 
f +61 2 4962 3245
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017 

Consolidated

 Note 2017

($)

2016

($)
Revenue 2 3,232,426 1,945,784

(2,072,473) (1,231,735)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 3 (252,828) (15,653)

Consultancy fees (190,243) (203,132)

Compliance expenses (88,602) (54,470)

Legal expenses (40,963) (18,858)

Market trading expenses (1,211,052) (883,305)

Marketing and promotion (80,120) (15,492)

Occupancy expenses (251,770) (120,453)

Administration expense (441,620) (371,466)

Other expenses (418,215) (100,406)

Restructuring costs (367,562) (415,000)

Loss before income tax (2,183,022) (1,484,186)

5 - -

Loss after tax attributable to members from 

continuing operations

(2,183,022) (1,484,186)

Loss Attributable to:

Non controlling equity interest 28 (396,782) (364,141)

Members of the parent entity (1,786,240) (1,120,045)

Total (2,183,022) (1,484,186)

Total comprehensive income 
attribute to:
Non controlling equity interest 28 (396,782) (364,141)

Members of the parent entity (1,786,240) (1,120,045)

Total (2,183,022) (1,484,186)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

     earnings from continuing operations (cents) 30 (1.5) (1.1)

Diluted earning per share

     earnings from continuing operations (cents) 30 (1.5) (1.1)
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Statement of Financial Position
As At 30 June 2017

Current assets Note 2017

($)

2016

($)
Cash and cash equivalents 7 739,197 5,251,497

Trade and other receivables 8 335,671 157,479

Financial assets 9 4,175,000 2,215,000

Other current assets 10 109,132 63,312

Total current assets 5,359,000 7,687,288

Non-current assets 

Property, plat and equipment 11 546,777 65,958

12 76,365 120,000

Total non current assets 623,142 185,958

TOTAL ASSETS 5,982,142 7,873,246

Liabilities

Assets

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 14 997,673 271,938

Short-term provisions 15 266,028 700,445

Total current liabilities 1,263,701 972,383

Non-current liabilities 

Other long-term provisions 15 600 -

Total non-current liabilities 600 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,264,301 972,383

NET ASSETS 4,717,841 6,900,863

Equity

16 44,251,385 44,251,385

Retained earnings (40,920,590) (39,134,350)

Non-controlling interest 1,387,046 1,783,828

Total equity 4,717,841 6,900,863

Consolidated
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Net Tangible Assets per share: Note 2017

($)

2016

($)
NTA (cents per share) 3.19 4.91

Note Issued 
Capital 

($)

Non-
Controlling 

Interests 
($)

Retained 
Earnings 

($)

Total

44,251,385 1,783,828 (39,134,350) 6,900,863

Loss for the year - - (1,786,240) (1,786,240)

Shares issued 16 - - - -

Transaction costs on share 
issue

- - - -

Loss attributable to
non-controlling interest

- (396,782) - (396,782)

Balance at 30 June 2017 44,251,385 1,387,046 (40,920,590) 4,717,841

38,914,870 1,144,601 (38,014,305) 2,045,167)

Loss for the year - - (1,120,045) (1,120,046)

Shares issued 16 5,733,945 - 5,733,945

Transaction costs on share 
issue

397,430 - (397,430)

Shares issed by subsidiaries - 1,003,368 - 1,003,368

Loss attributable to non-
controlling interest

- (364,141) - (364,141)

Balance at 30 June 2016 44,251,385 1,783,828 (39,134,350) 6,900,863

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017 

Consolidated
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017 

Cash from operating activities Note 2017

($)

2016

($)
Receipts from customers 3,104,290 2,033,705

Payments to suppliers and employees (5,457,906) (3,254,832)

167,001 97,054

Lease incentive 300,040 -

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 19(a) (1,886,575) (1,124,073)

Cash flows from investing activities 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (798,396) (75,930)

132,671 (120,465)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (665,725) (196,395)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of shares - 6,749,870

Costs of issue of shares - (397,430)

Proceeds from borrowings - -

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activites - 6,352,440

Net increase (decrease) in cash held (2,552,300) 5,031,972

7,466,497 2,434,525

Cash at end of financial year 19(c) 4,914,197 7,466,497

Consolidated
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Note 1 - Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

Corporations Act 2001.

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in 

otherwise stated.

(a) Principles of Consolidation

(NSX Limited) and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent controls 
an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 

of the Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary 

gains or losses on transactions between group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity 
of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

interests in subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets on 
liquidation at either fair value or at the non controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s 

loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non controlling interests are shown separately 

(b) Income Tax 
Current Income Tax expense

substantially enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date.

Deferred income tax assets

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017
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Accounting for deferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for using the Statement of Financial Position liability method in respect of 

loss.

Deferred tax calculation
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly 
against equity.

The economic entity is a tax consolidated group. At the time of signing these accounts there are no formal 
tax sharing agreements in place.

Tax Consolidation
NSX Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group 
under tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the Group recognises its own current and deferred tax 
assets and liabilities. Such taxes are measured using the ‘stand-alone taxpayer’ approach to allocation. 
Current tax liabilities (assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the 
subsidiaries are immediately transferred to the head entity.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Plant and equipment

event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, 
the carrying amount is written down immediately to estimated recoverable amount and impairment 

to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are 
present (refer to note 1(f) for details of impairment). 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess 
of the recoverable amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 

amounts.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

the Economic Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance 

incurred.

Depreciation

lives to the Economic Entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

Depreciation rates
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

• Class of Fixed Asset: Plant and Equipment
• Depreciation Rate:
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(d) Leases
Operating leases

lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives
Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight line basis 
over the life of the lease term.

(e) Financial Instruments
Recognition and initial measurements

itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the 

interest rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged for 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active 

Amortised cost is calculated as:

b) less principal repayments;

d) less any reduction for impairment.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
(including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when 

necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense 

The Economic Entity does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities 

instruments.  

Financial assets at fair value

designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group 

documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair 

Loans and receivables
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(e) Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Held-to-maturity investments

investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments held by the Economic Entity are stated at 

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

Financial liabilities

payments and amortisation.

Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques 
are applied to determine fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.

Impairment

losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Derecognition

(f) Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the Economic Entity reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value-in-use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value 
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Economic Entity 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(g) Employee Benefits

been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. 

employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Those 
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(g) Employee Benefits (Cont’d)
Contributions are made by the Economic Entity to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as 
expenses when incurred. 

(h) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 

reliably measured. Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period.

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less such as term deposits, and bank 

asset. This is due to a requirement that these deposits be available for immediate payment to a claimant, 
should they be called upon, and the obligations of section 885B(1)(g) of the Corporations Act, which 

shown within short term borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.

(j) Revenue and other income

Listings revenue includes revenue from annual listing fees, initial listing fees and secondary capital 

taken place. Annual listing fees are recognised evenly over the year.

Revenue from the rendering of other services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customers.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables 
and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.

(l) Comparative Figures

(m) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the 
Economic Entity.

(i) Key Estimates – Impairment
The Economic Entity assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions and events 

of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key 
assumptions. Refer to Note 12 for details of these assumptions.
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(m) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Cont’d)
(ii) Key Estimates – Equity Settled Compensation

payment employee share scheme, the Directors have determined that the probability of employees 

discussions with the employees involved and analysis of historical employment records.

(iii) Long service leave provision
As discussed in Note 1(g), the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present 

(iv) Control of IR Plus Group Holdings Limited (IRP)

rights of this subsidiary due to: 

(n) New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Adopted by 
the Group
During the current year, the Group adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 

(o) New accounting standards for application in future periods
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 

the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below. 

the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

IFRS 16 Leases
Applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

balance sheet. 

The calculation of the lease liability will take into account appropriate discount rates, assumptions about 
lease term and increases in lease payments. A corresponding right to use asset will be recognised which 

impact of the leases will be through amortisation and interest charges. 

increase and rental expense will decrease.
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(o) New accounting standards for application in future periods (Cont’d)
AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 
Applicable for Annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

being for entities to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts 

those goods or services. AASB 15 will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guidance 
for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and 

The changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 15 may cause changes to the timing and 

Applicable for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

instruments.

or loss. 

The new hedging rules align hedge accounting more closely with the Group’s risk management practices.  
As a general rule it will be easier to apply hedge accounting going forward. The new standard also 
introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in presentation. There is no expected impacts 
to NSX’s accounts.

(p) Removal of Parent Entity Financial Statements
The Group has applied amendments to the Corporations Act 2001 that removes the requirement for the 

(q) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non recurring 
basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability 
in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market 
participants at the measurement date.

As fair value is a market based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information 
is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the 

in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data.

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset 
or liability (ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in 
the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the 
reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the 
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(q) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d)

to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to share 
based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation 

instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are 

(i) Valuation techniques 

or more valuation techniques to measure the fair value of the asset or liability. The Group selects a 

characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the Group 
are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches:

• Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated 
by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities.

• 
expenses into a single discounted present value; and

• 
current service capacity.

use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation 
technique, the Group gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs 

sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas 
inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information 
available about such assumptions are considered unobservable.

(ii) Fair value hierarchy 
AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which 
categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an 

• Level 1: Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2: Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3: Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one 
or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of 

data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.

The Group would change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy only in the following 
circumstances:

i. if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) or 
vice versa; or

vice versa.
When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair 
value hierarchy (i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value hierarchy) on the date the event 
or change in circumstances occurred.
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Note 2: Revenue 

Operating Activities 2017

($)

2016

($)
Trading & listing fees (exchanges) 3,062,170 1,836,015

167,001 97,054

Other revenue 3,255 12,715

Total revenue 3,232,426 1,945,784

Revenue from continuing operations 3,232,426 1,945,784

Total Revenue 3,232,426 1,945,784

(a) Reconcilliation of Revenue

Note 3: Profit from ordinary activities 

Depreciation of non-current assets

Plant and equipment 252,828 15,653

Total 252,828 15,653

(a) Depreciaon expense

Note 4: Auditors’ remuneration

Auditor’s remuneration

37,034 65,000

Tax Services 7,067 8,800

Other Services - 3,500

Total 44,101 77,300

Note 5: Income tax expense

(654,907) (445,256)

Add:

    tax losses not recognised in the accounts 654,907 445,256

- -

13,059,600 12,404,693

Consolidated
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Note 6: Dividends 

Dividends 2017

($)

2016

($)
Balance of franking account at period end adjusted for franking credits 
arising from payment for provision of income tax

86,495 86,495

Consolidated

Note 7: Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand - 200

Cash at bank 739,197 5,251,297

Total 739,197 5,251,497

Note 8: Trade and other receivables

Current

Trade receivables 335,521 30,324

Deposits 150 26,926

Other receivables - 100,229

Total 335,671 157,479

Note 9: Financial Assets

Current

Term Deposits 4,175,000 2,215,000

Total 4,175,000 2,215,000

Note 10: other assets

Current

Prepayments 109,132 63,312

Total 109,132 63,312
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(a) Movements on carrying amounts

Consolidated Plant & 
Equipment 

($)

($)

Balance at the beginning of year 9,892 9,892

Additions 798,396 798,396

(8,682) (8,682)

Depreciation and amortisation (252,828) (252,828)

Carrying amount at end of year 546,778 546,778

Note 11: Property plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment 2017

($)

2016

($)
Plant and equipment - at cost 842,328 595,387

Less accumulated depreciation (295,550) (529,429)

Total plant and equipment 546,778 65,958

Consolidated

Investment in Finance TV Pty Ltd (T/A Financial News Network)

The fair value of the Company’s investment in Finance TV Pty Ltd has been considered at Note 31.

Note 12: other financial assets 

Other financial assets

120,000 120,000

(43,635) -

Total 76,365 120,000
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Note 13: Controlled Entities

Name Country of 
Incorporation

Percentage 
Owned 2017

Percentage 
Owned 2016

NSX Limited Australia

BSX Services Pty Limited Australia

BSX Systems Pty Limited Australia

National Stock Exchange of Australia 
Limited

Australia

NSX Services Pty Limited Australia

TWEPL Pty Ltd Australia

WGMPL Pty Ltd Australia

Australia

NSX Clearing Nominees Pty Limited Australia

Subsidiaries of WGMPL Pty Ltd

TWEPL Pty Ltd Australia

Subsidiaries of IR Plus Group Holdings Ltd

Australia

During the year the directors of TWPL Pty Limited decided that it was no longer needed and an 

was deregistered. Other than this there were no changes to the controlled entities.

 

holds only half of the voting rights of this subsidiary due to:
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Note 13: Controlled Entities (Cont’d)

(a) Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Name of Subsidiary 30-Jun 2017 30-Jun 2016

(396,782) (364,141)

3,835,053 3,835,053

IR PlusGroup Holdings Ltd

Current assets 66,909 436,699

Non-current assets 39,290 60,000

Current liabilities 870,906 864,623

Non-current liabilities - -

Net Assets (764,707) (367,925)

(396,782) (364,141)

Total comprehensive income (396,782) (364,141)

(366,488) (364,664)

- 776,629

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (366,488) 411,965

WGMPL Pty Ltd and TWEPL Pty Ltd are fully owned subsidiaries of NSX and are currently dormant.
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Note 14: Trade and other payables 

Current

Unsecured liabilities

2017

($)

2016

($)
Trade payables 384,542 44,112

Sundry payables 613,131 198,924

- 28,902

Total 997,673 271,938

Consolidated

Note 15: Provisions

Movement Employee 
Entitlements 

($)

Total 

($)

280,809 280,809

Additional provisions 68,958 68,958

Amounts used (64,322) (64,322)

Balance at 30 June 2016 285,445 285,445

285,445 285,445

Additional provisions 75,254 75,254

Amounts used (104,071) (104,071)

Balance at 30 June 2017 256,628 256,628

(a) Movements on carrying amounts

Provision

Current 266,028 285,445

Non-current 600 -

Total 266,628 285,445

(b) Analysis of total provisions

Cost

415,000 -

Additional provisions - 415,000

Amounts used (405,000) -

Closing balance 30 June 2016 10,000 415,000

(c) Restructure Costs
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Note 16: Issued Capital NSX Limited  

2017

($)

2016

($)
147,905,288 (2016: 147,905,288) fully paid ordinary shares 44,236,385 44,236,385

1,500,000 (2016: 1,500,000) ordinary shares paid to 1 cent 15,000 15,000

Total 44,251,385 44,251,385

Consolidated

At beginning of period 44,236,385 38,899,870

Placement - 11 December 2015 - 5,336,515

At Reporting Date 44,236,385 44,236,385

(a) Reconcilliation of movements of fully paid ordinary shares

No. No.

At beginning of period 147,905,288 131,405,288

Placement - 11 December 2015 - 16,500,000

At Reporting Date 147,905,288 147,905,288

2015. HKL was listed on the National Stock Exchange of Australia in August 2015.

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Economic Entity in 
proportion to the number of shares held. At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one 
vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

The partly paid shares are only callable at the option of the holder or on liquidation. They can be voted in 
proportion to the amount that is paid up.

(b) Capital Management
The Economic Entity’s objective in managing capital is to continue to provide shareholders with attractive 
investment returns and ensure that the group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.

The Economic Entity’s capital consists of shareholders equity plus net debt. The movement in equity is 

structure, the Economic Entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.
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Note 17: Capital and Leasing Commitments

(a) Operating Lease Commitments

Payable - minimum lease payments 2017

($)

2016

($)
Not later than 12 months 177,682 246,021

Between 12 months and 5 years 610,363 494,367

Total 788,045 740,388

Consolidated

the restructure of Company operations, all operations were consolidated in Sydney in the fourth quarter 
of 2016.

Newcastle

for the Newcastle premises is a non-cancellable lease with rent payable monthly in advance.  
The lease commenced in August 2008 and continued until August 2017. This lease was not renewed and 
accordingly closed.

Sydney

The NSX moved into its new premises at Level 3, 1 Bligh Street Sydney in late October 2016. The serviced 

Technology Leases
NSX Limited has an agreement with NASDAQ to provide technology related services to enable the 

period of 10 years, with rental paid quarterly in advance. The amount of the lease agreement is subject to 
 

the supplier.

New leases
Other than that stated above, no other new leases have been entered into during the period.
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Note 18: Related Party transactions

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

(a) Director Related Entities

Person Description of related party 
transaction

Jun-30

2017

($)

Jun-30

2016

($)
Mr Michael Cox as a Director of Solidus Financial Services - -

Mr Tom Price &
Ms Ann Bowering

as Directors and Executives of Financial and 
Energy Exchange Limited - Payments made 

Amounts repaid to FEX for services rendered 
such as rental for the market site for 
functions, capital raising services or other 
services including interest.

-

16,450

197,739

(120,465) 

Consolidated

(b) Beneficial Holdings

Ordinary Shares: 4,043 (2016: 4,043) fully paid ordinary shares
Partly Paid Shares: 700,000 (2016: 700,000) partly paid shares to 1 cent
Share Options Nil (2016: Nil)

During the prior period FEX sold its shareholding to three new shareholders. This means that Tom Price 
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(b) Credit Standby Arrangement and Loan Facilities
 

(c) Reconciliation of cash

Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 739,197 5,251,497

Term deposits - held to maturity (amortised cost) 4,175,000 2,215,000

Total 4,914,197 7,466,497

(d) Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities
No subsidiaries were acquired during the year by issuance of equity. 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of purchase of subsidiaries exclusive of disposed entities

(291,934) (11,985)

- 45,522

734,418 (112,924)

(433,817) 419,636

Cashflow from Operations (1,886,575) (1,124,073)

Note 19: Cash Flow Information

Consolidated

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after 
Income Tax

2017

($)

2016

($)
(2,183,022) (1,484,186)

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activites

Non-cash flows in profit

Depreciation and amortisation 252,828 15,653

(8,683) 4,211

43,636 -
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(b) Director & Key Management Personnel Compensation

Note 20: Director & Key Management Personnel

(a) Director & Key Management Personnel

Director & Key Management Position

Michael Cox Director and Chairman, appointed 23 November 2009

Thomas Price Non-Executive-Director, appointed 17 November 2009

Ann Bowering Director, appointed 25 May 2009, Managing Director appointed 10 

Emlyn Scott
March 2016

Scott Evans General Manager and Company Secretary, appointed 24 

Tony Shen (Weiguo) Non-Executive-Director, appointed 29 September 2016

 
Ceased 28 October 2016

Short term benefits Post employment 
benefits

Equity-settled 
share based 
payments

Total

Name Notes Cash &
Salary
$’000

Commissions 
& Deferred 

Income  
$’000

Non-
cash 

benefits
$’000

Super- 
annuation

$’000

Other
$’000

Shares/
Units

$’000

Options/
Rights
$’000

$’000

Michael Cox 1 80 - - 8 - - - 88

Ann Bowering 2 300 - - 20 - - - 320

Tom Price 1 40 - - 4 - - - 44

Scott Evans 4 217 - - 20 - - - 237

Tony Shen 1 30 - - 6 - - - 36

3 376 - - 21 - - - 397

Total 1,043 - - 79 - - - 1,122

Notes to 2017 Remuneration Report:
(1) Amounts for Michael Cox, Tony Shen and Thomas Price are for director fees paid during the year.
(2) Amounts paid to Ann Bowering as a Director and Managing Director.
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(c) Compensation Options
No options were issued during the year.

(d) Shares Issued on Exercise of Remuneration Options

to Note 20(e).

(e) Options and Rights Holdings
Number of Options Held by Director & Key Management Personnel.

Name Balance 
1/07/2016 

No.

Granted as 
Remuneration

No.

Options 
Exercised No.

Net Change 
Other No.

Balance 
30/06/2017 

No.

Total 
Exercisable 

No.

Scott Evans 161,706 - - - 161,706 -

161,706 - - - 161,706 -

Total 323,412 - - - 323,412 -

2017. The options can be exercised at any time at the discretion of the holder.   

Note 20: Director & Key Management Personnel (Cont’d)

(b) Director & Key Management Personnel Compensation (Cont’d)

Name Notes Cash &
Salary
$’000

Commissions 
& Deferred 

Income $’000

Non-cash 
benefits

$’000

Super- 
annuation

$’000

Other
$’000

Shares/
Units

$’000

Options/
Rights
$’000

$’000

Michael Cox 1 83 - - 8 - - - 91

Ann Bowering 2 56 - - 4 - - - 60

Tom Price 1 42 - - 4 - - - 46

Emlyn Scott 3 169 - - 14 - - - 183

Scott Evans 227 - - 20 - - - 247

235 - - 20 - - - 255

Total 812 - - 70 - - - 882

Short term benefits Post employment 
benefits

Equity-settled 
share based 
payments

Total

Notes to 2016 Remuneration Report:
(1) Amounts for Michael Cox and Thomas Price are for director fees paid during the year.
(2) Amounts paid to Ann Bowering as a Director and Managing Director.
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Note 20: Director & Key Management Personnel (Cont’d)

(f) Shareholdings
Number of Ordinary Fully Paid Shares held by Director & Key Management Personnel.

2017 Notes Balance
01/07/2016 

No.

Received as 
Remuneration 

No.

Options 
Exercised No.

Net Change 
Other No.

Balance 
30-06-2017 

No.

Michael Cox 4,043 - - - 4,043

Scott Evans 28,000 - - - 28,000

Total 32,043 - - - 32,043

2016 Notes Balance
01-07-15 No.

Received as 
Remuneration 

No.

Options 
Exercised No.

Net Change 
Other No.

Balance 
30/06/2016 

No.

Tom Price & 
Ann Bowering

1 59,867,610 - - (59,867,610) -

Michael Cox 2 4,043 - - - 4,043

Scott Evans 2 28,000 - - - 28,000

Total 59,899,653 - - (59,867,610) 32,043

Notes: 
(1) As a director of Financial and Energy Exchange Limited with respect to shares sold by FEX Equity Markets Pty Ltd to other 

(g) Remuneration Practices
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of compensation of key directors and key man-
agement for the Economic Entity is as follows:

The Directors’ are allowed to claim reimbursement for expenses incurred when acting on behalf of the 
NSX. Directors’ are allowed to claim remuneration approved by the Board of Directors as a member of the 
NSX Audit & Risk Committee, Remuneration & Nomination Committee, Compliance Committee or Listing 
& Admissions Committee. Approved by shareholders at the AGM of 20 December 2004, the remuneration 

Director Remuneration
Approved by shareholders at the AGM of 20 December 2004, the remuneration pool for non-executive 

inclusive of superannuation. Executive director fees for service are by mutual agreement with the Board. 

20(b).

Short Term Incentive Plan
No short term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.

Long Term Incentive Plan
No long term incentive scheme had been approved by the Board or shareholders.
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Note 21: Contingent Liabilities

Estimates of the maximum amounts of 
contingent liabilities that may become payable:

2016

($)

2015

($)
Compensation Arrangements 1,800,000 1,800,000

ASX Settlement Performance Bond 500,000 500,000

Total 2,300,000 2,300,000

Consolidated

Compensation Arrangements
Part 7.5 of the Corporations Act 2001 requires licensed markets through which participants provide ser-
vices for retail clients to have compensation arrangements. The compensation arrangements are limited 
to the coverage of losses arising from defalcation of client assets held by participants registered with the 
Exchanges as the holders of Australian Market Licences (AML) as detailed in the Corporations Act 2001.

National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited Compensation Arrangements

The arrangements to meet the minimum cover are in two parts: (a) the NSX Fidelity Fund as detailed in 

During the period there were no claims on the compensation arrangements.

IR Plus Securities Exchange Limited Compensation Arrangements

During the period there were no claims on the compensation arrangements.

ASX Settlement Performance Bond

broker participants. Consequently NSX is registered with ASX Settlement as a General Participant for the 

or incurred any losses, damages, costs or expenses. 

of the Settlement Performance Bond. During the period these were no claims arising from ASX Settlement 
Operating Rule 4.9.5.

Rental Bond

for the properties at 1 Bligh Street Sydney and 117 Scott Street Newcastle. These bonds are currently 

the Newcastle property.
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Note 22: Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management
-

ments, accounts receivable and payable, and loans to and from subsidiaries.

(b) Interest Rate Risk

(c) Credit Risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 

The economic entity does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 

FinancialAssets Weighted
Average 

Effective
Interest 

Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate

Maturing 
within 1 

Year

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

Total

Cash and cash (2017) 1.50 739,197 - - 739,197

Cash and cash (2016) 1.69 5,251,297 - 200 5,251,497

equivalents (2017) 2.10 - 4,175,000 - 4,175,000

equivalents (2016) 2.25 - 2,215,000 - 2,215,000

Receivables (2017) - - - - -

Receivables (2016) - - - - -

Total Financial Assets (2017) - 739,197 4,175,000 - 4,914,197

Total Financial Assets (2016) - 5,251,297 2,215,000 200 7,466,497

Financial Liabilities

Payables (2017) - 997,673 - - 997,673

Payables (2016) - 271,938 - - 271,938

Borrowings (2017) - - - - -

Borrowings (2016) - - - - -

Total Financial Liabilities (2017) - 997,673 - - 997,673

Total Financial Liabilities (2016) - 271,938 - - 271,938
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Assets

2017 Carrying 
Amount 

($)

Profit
 (S)

Equity 
($)

Profit
 ($)

Equity 
($)

-0.25% 0.5%

Cash 739,197 (1,848) (1,848) 3,696 3,696

Term deposits 4,175,000 (10,438) (10,438) 20,875 20,875

Interest Rate Risk

Liabilities

Borrowings - - - - -

Increase/Decrease 4,914,197 (12,286) (12,286) 24,571 24,571

2016

Assets

Cash 5,251,797 (13,129) (13,129) 26,259 26,259

Term deposits 2,215,000 (5,538) (5,538) 11,075 11,075

Liabilities

Borrowings - - - - -

Increase/Decrease 7,466,797 (18,667) (18,667) 37,334 37,334

Note 22: Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(d) Net Fair Value
-

-

(e) Sensitivity analysis
The Economic Entity has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk. This 

a change in this risk. As the Economic Entity does not trade in commodities, is not involved in foreign 

(f) Liquidity risk

The economic entity has a zero level of gearing and manages liquidity risk by closely monitoring forecast 

(g) Interest rate sensitivity analysis
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Note 23: Segment Reporting
Primary reporting - Business segments

Major Customers
The Group has a number of customers to which it provides both products and services. During the period 

(a) Segment Performance

Revenue

Stock Exchanges
$’000

Unallocated 
Items $’000

Total
$’000

External sales - services 3,048.9 - 3,048.9

18.4 148.6 167.0

Other - 16.5 16.5

Total segment revenue 3,067.3 165.1 3,232.4

Total group revenue 3,232.4

Results

300.0 (2,483.1) (2,183.1)

Other Items

Depreciation and amortisation 252.9 - 252.9

Revenue

External sales - services 1,836 - 1,836

17 80 97

Other - 13 13

Total segment revenue 1,853 93 1,946

Total group revenue 1,946

Results

295 (1,779) (1,484)

Other Items

Depreciation and amortisation 16 - 16
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Note 23: Segment Reporting (Cont’d)

(b) Segment Assets

Stock Exchanges
$’000

Unallocated 
Items $’000

Total
$’000

Segment Assets 2,147.1 3,835.0 5,982.1

Acquisitions - - -

Segment Assets 1,934 5,940 7,874

Acquisitions 76 - 76

(c) Segment Liabilities

Segment Liabilities 749.3 515.0 1,264.3

Segment Liabilities 152.9 819.5 972.4

(d) Accounting Policies
Segment revenues and expenses are those directly attributable to the segments and include any joint revenue and 
expenses where a reasonable basis of allocation exists. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and 
consist principally of cash, receivables, intangibles, property, plant and equipment, net of allowances and accumu-
lated depreciation and amortisation. While most such assets can be directly attributed to individual segments, the 
carrying amount of certain assets used jointly by two or more segments is allocated to the segments on a reason-

borrowings. Segment assets and liabilities do not include deferred income taxes.

(e) Intersegment Transfers
Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. The prices charged on intersegment 
transactions are the same as those charged for similar goods to parties outside of the Economic Entity at an arm’s 
length. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

(f) Business and Geographic Segments
Business segments
The Economic Entity has the following business segments:

• The Stock Exchanges segment primarily includes the activities of the National Stock Exchange of 
Australia.

Geographic segments
The Economic Entity’s business segments are located in Australia.
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Note 24: Financial Market Fidelity Fund 

Act 2001. The Board of National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited has waived the contribution fees for 
Participants.

Exchange Limited has waived the contribution fees for Participants.

Note 25: Reliance on Technology and Systems 
The ability of the National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited to conduct its operations is heavily reliant 
upon the capacity and reliability of the trading systems which are licensed to the economic entity by 
NASDAQ Group and the ASX Settlement CHESS settlement systems, which are licensed to the Economic 
Entity by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited.

the capacity and reliability of the trading systems which are licensed to the economic entity by NASDAQ 
Group and the ASX Settlement CHESS settlement systems, which are licensed to the Economic Entity by 
the Australian Securities Exchange Limited.

Economic Entity.

Note 26: Events after the end of the reporting period
During the year the directors of TWPL Pty Limited decided that it was no longer needed and an 

was deregistered. 

Note 27: Company Details

NSX Limited
Level 3, 1 Bligh Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Note 28: Associates and Joint Ventures

 

Non-controlling Interest 30-Jun

2017

30-Jun

2016
3,835,053 3,835,053

(396,782) (364,141)

IR Plus JV
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Note 29: Parent Entity Disclosures

Results of Parent 2017

($)

2016

($)
Loss for the period (1,244,939) (1,008,562)

Total comprehensive loss for the period (1,244,939) (1,008,562)

Parent

Financial position at year end

Current assets 4,987,423 6,919,595

Total assets 8,914,868 10,817,040

Current liabilities 301,505 166,915

Total liabilities 301,505 958,737

Total Equity of Parent entity

Share Capital 44,251,386 44,251,386

Retained losses (35,638,022) (34,393,083)

Total equity 8,613,364 9,858,303

The parent entity has no contingencies or any capital commitments for property, plant and equipment. 
The parent entity has in place agreements with subsidiary entities for the provision of services to maintain 
the operations of the Stock Exchange. The parent entity has not entered into a deed of cross guarantee.

Note 30: Earnings per Share

Loss for the period (2,183,022) (1,484,186)

Earnings used to calculate basic and diluted EPS (2,183,022) (1,484,186)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic 
earningsper share and net tangible assets

147,905,288 140,582,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
dilutive EPS

147,905,288 140,582,000

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted and basic):

(a) Reconciliation of Earnings to Loss:
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Note 30: Earnings per Share (Cont’d)

Basic earnings per share  

earnings from continuing operations (cents) (1.5) (1.1)

Total 30(a)(b) (1.5) (1.1)

Earnings per share Note 2017 

($)

2016 

($)

Diluted earnings per share  

earnings from continuing operations (cents) (1.5) (1.1)

Total 30(a)(b) (1.5) (1.1)

Note 31: Fair value measurement
The Group measures the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis:

• 

Fair value hierarchy 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to 
a level in the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 - Measurement based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 - Measurement based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are ob-
servable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - Measurement based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The table below shows the assigned categorisation within the fair value hierarchy for each asset and liabil-
ity held at fair value by the Group:

Recurring fair value 
measurements

Level 1  
($)

Level 2 
($)

Level 3 
($)

Level 4 
($)

Finance TV Pty Limited fully paid 
ordinary shares

- - 76,364 76,364

  

Recurring fair value 
measurements

Level 1  
($)

Level 2 
($)

Level 3 
($)

Level 4 
($)

Finance TV Pty Limited fully paid 
ordinary shares

- - 120,000 120,000

  

Investment in Finance TV – Level 3 
The Company has considered the fair value of its investment in Finance TV Pty Limited having regard for 
recent arms-length market activity with respect to the asset. 

(c) Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents):
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors of the company declare that:

statements, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act and Regulations 2001 (section 296); and

year ended on that date of the company and economic entity (Corporations Act 2001 section 297); and
(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ 

Corporations Act 2001;

the Corporations Act 2001 that:
-

dance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

3. The declaration under section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound system of risk 

its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Michael Cox

Director

Ann Bowering

Director

Dated 29 September 2017

Sydney
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF NSX LIMITED 

Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of NSX Limited and its controlled entities (the Economic 
Entity), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration 
of the company and the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

In our opinion, the financial report of NSX Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

i) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibility section of our 
report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Independence 
We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not 
accept any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms.

For office locations visit www.pkf.com.au

Sydney

Level 8, 1 O’Connell Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia   
GPO Box 5446 Sydney NSW 2001 

p +61 2 8346 6000   
f +61 2 8346 6099

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited 
Partnership

ABN 91 850 861 839

Liability limited by a scheme 

approved under Professional 

Standards Legislation

Newcastle

755 Hunter Street   
Newcastle West NSW 2302 Australia   
PO Box 2368 Dangar NSW 2309

p +61 2 4962 2688 
f +61 2 4962 3245
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Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context. 

1. Classification of cash held for compensation arrangements 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Classification of cash held for compensation 
arrangements

 Our work included, but was not limited to, the 
following procedures: 

Under compensation arrangements, NSX Limited 
must maintain a minimum level of cash available 
for immediate use in the event of a claim. This 
cash is held on a short-term basis in term 
deposits.  

NSX Limited classify these term deposits as a 
current financial asset, regardless of the term 
invested.   

The cash deposits amount to $2,200,000 and are 
disclosed as Financial Assets in the Statement of 
Financial Position and included in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of 
Cash Flows.  This includes a letter of credit for 
$700,000 within National Stock Exchange of 
Australia Limited, a letter of credit for $1,000,000 
within IR Plus Securities Exchange Limited and 
an established bank guarantee backed by a term 
deposit of $500,000 as noted in Note 21.

 PKF held discussions with management to 
determine their basis for classification as a 
current financial asset. Management of 
NSX Limited provided a detailed basis for 
classification, supported by reference to 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

 PKF reviewed management’s basis for the 
classification against the requirements of 
Australian Accounting Standards, while 
also taking into consideration the intent of 
Chapter 7, Part 7.5 of the Corporations Act 
2001 which sets out requirements for a 
compensation regime, and the nature of 
approved compensation arrangements.   

 PKF concluded that NSX Limited has an 
unconditional right to call the deposit at 
their discretion. Therefore, the 
classification as a current financial asset is 
reasonable. 
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 

2. Control of Joint Venture 

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Control of Joint Venture Our work included, but was not limited to, the 
following procedures: 

NSX Limited hold 50% of the shares in IR Plus 
Group Holdings Limited with the other 50% being 
held by a single shareholder.  

While a 50:50 split exists, Directors and 
management determined that NSX Limited 
maintains control of IR Plus Group Holdings 
Limited. This conclusion has been reached due to 
the agreement in place between NSX Limited and 
IR Plus Group Holdings, whereby NSX Limited is 
required to provide financial support to IR Plus 
Group Holdings Limited until such time as IR Plus 
Group Holdings Limited returns to a profitable 
position. As at 30 June 2017 this agreement 
provides IR Plus Group Holdings Limited the 
ability to continue its operations into the 
foreseeable future. As a result of this agreement, 
NSX Limited has the ability to direct the relevant 
activities of IR Plus Group Holdings Limited.  

As a result of this judgement, the financial records 
of IR Plus Group Holdings Limited have been 
consolidated into the financial report of NSX 
Limited, resulting in a non-controlling interest for 
the 50% interest held by other parties.  

Should any of the conditions set out in Note 1 m) 
iv) vary, it could alter the relationship between 
NSX Limited and IR Plus Group Holdings Limited, 
and result in a joint venture arrangement whereby 
NSX Limited interest would be equity accounted.  

 PKF reviewed the nature of control by both 
parties and we are satisfied that there is 
sufficient evidence to support NSX’s 
judgement that they maintain the ability to 
control IR Plus Group Holdings Limited.  

 Further to this, there remains common 
Directors in both NSX Limited and IR Plus 
Group Holdings Limited, which further 
supports the assertion that NSX Limited 
maintains the ability to control.  

 We have assessed the appropriateness of 
the related disclosures in Note 28 and 
concluded that these disclosures are 
sufficient and appropriate.  
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Other Information 
Other information is financial and non-financial information in the annual report of the Economic Entity which 
is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The directors are responsible for 
Other Information in the annual report. 

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Director’s report. The 
remaining Other Information is expected to be made available to us after the date of the Auditor’s Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, the auditor does 
not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of 
the Remuneration Report. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information in 
the Financial Report and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In Note 1, 
the Directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the consolidated entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using a 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the consolidated entity or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  Our objectives are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue and auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individual or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (cont’d) 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report. 

We conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the consolidated entity to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  

The Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements. We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.  



94

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 
2017.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of NSX Limited for the year ended 30 June 2017, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 

PKF 

CLAYTON HICKEY 
PARTNER

29 SEPTEMBER 2017
SYDNEY 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
FOR LISTED PUBLIC COMPANIES
The following additional information is required by the  

Australian Securities Exchange Ltd in respect of listed public companies.

1. Shareholding 
(a) Distribution of Shareholders as at 12 September 2017

(b) Marketable Parcels as at 12 September 2017

The number of holders holding less than a marketable parcel (UMP) is 44 (at a market price of  

 
(c) Substantial Shareholders as at 12 September 2017

The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the holding company’s register as at  
12 September 2017 are:

Security holder
Number of fully

paid ordinary
shares held

Percentage of
shares held to
issued capital

21,949,145 14.8

19,848,888 13.4

17,509,577 11.8

 16,500,000  11.2

14,000,705 9.5

 11,270,520  7.6

10,212,000  6.9

7,785,000  5.3

7,432,500 5.0

126,508,335 85.5

Total issued capital 147,905,288

Number

Category (size of holding) Ordinary Partly Paid

1 – 1,000 32 -

1,001 – 5,000 84 -

5,001 – 10,000 44 -

10,001 – 100,000 73 -

100,001 – and over 28 3

261 3



(d) Voting Rights

Ordinary shares - Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise  
each member present at a meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands.

Partly Paid shares - Each partly paid share is entitled to one vote on a pro-rata basis dependent 
on the amount that is already paid when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a 
meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. The call on the partly paid shares is at  
the discretion of the holder.

(e) 20 Largest Shareholders — Ordinary Shares – as at 12 September 2017

2. Company Secretary

3. Registered Office

Level 3,
1 Bligh Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Security holder
Number of fully

paid ordinary
shares held

Percentage of
shares held to
issued capital

21,949,145  14.8

 19,848,888 13.4

17,509,577 11.8

 16,500,000  11.2

14,000,705 9.5

 11,270,520  7.6

 10,212,000  6.9

 7,785,000  5.3

7,432,500 5.0

10 RENERGY PTY LTD 4,788,665 3.2

11 DEMPSEY RESOURCES PTY LTD  4,000,000  2.7

 1,636,031 1.1

1,442,000 1.0

 1,341,625  0.9

1,220,948 0.8

944,354 0.6

 638,000  0.4

508,000 0.3

 303,789  0.2

240,000 0.2

143,571,747 97.1



4. Registers of securities are held at the following address

New South Wales: 
Boardroom Pty Ltd
Grosvenor Place
Level 12
225 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
www.boardroomlimited.com.au
P: +61 2 9290 9600 | F: +61 2 9279 0664

5. Unquoted Securities

Partly Paid Shares
A total of 1,500,000 partly paid shares are on issue paid to 1 cent. They have one outstanding call 

Options over Unissued Shares
A total of 323,412 options are on issue.

6. Voting Rights – Ordinary Shares

Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present 
at a meetings or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands.

7. On-market buy back

There is no current on market buy back.

8. Annual General Meeting

The NSX Limited Annual General Meeting is expected to be held at 11:00am (AEDT) on Thursday, 9 
November 2017, in Sydney, New South Wales.

9. Sources of information for shareholders

Amendments to the Corporations Act have allowed changes to the way NSX delivers the Annual 
Report to shareholders each year. NSX sends to shareholders a letter asking shareholders to 
nominate how they wish to receive the Annual Report. NSX will send you a hardcopy Annual 
Report, free of charge, only if you elect to receive it. Alternatively NSX will provide details to 
shareholders on how to access the Annual Report in electronic form from the NSX website when 
NSX sends you the Notice of Meeting for the Annual General Meeting. This report is located at: 

. Shareholders can access NSX documents,
Governance and corporate information from the NSX website (www.nsx.com.au) from the  
About link.
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nsx.com.au
1 Bligh Street, Sydney NSW 2000
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